
 
 

 

Northern Middlesex Council of Governments 

A Multi-Disciplinary Regional Planning Agency Serving: 
Billerica – Chelmsford – Dracut – Dunstable – Lowell – Pepperell – Tewksbury – Tyngsborough – Westford 

 

672 Suffolk Street, Lowell, MA 01854          Tel: (978) 454-8021          www.nmcog.org 

Jennifer M. Raitt 
Executive Director 

Andrew N. Deslaurier 
Chair 

NOTICE OF MEETING 

The next meeting of the Northern Middlesex Council of Governments (NMCOG) will be held on Wednesday, March 
20, 2024 at 7:00 p.m. at NMCOG, 672 Suffolk Street, Suite 100, Lowell, MA 01854 with optional remote access via 

Zoom. To join this meeting via Zoom, please go to: https://us02web.zoom.us/j/83176268692.The Meeting ID is: 831 
7626 8692. If you are joining by phone, dial (309) 205-3325, Meeting ID# 831 7626 8692# 

AGENDA 

1. Call to Order and Roll Call  
 

2. Meeting Minutes – (Vote Required) 
Minutes from NMCOG Council Meeting 2/21/24  
 

3. Financial Report and Warrant - (Vote Required)  
 

4. FY2023 NMCOG Audit Presentation – Representatives from Anstiss & Co., P.C. 
 

5. 2024 Greater Lowell Comprehensive Economic Development Strategy (CEDS) Annual Performance 
Report (Endorsement Vote Required) 
-presentation by Christopher Glenn Hayes, Housing and Economic Development Manager  
 

6. Report of the Executive Director – February 2024 
 

7. Community Exchange 
 

8. Reminders and Announcements 
NMMPO Meeting - March 27, 2024, 2 PM 
NMCOG Council Meeting – April 17, 2024, 7 PM 
 

9. Other Business not known at the time of posting of this agenda 
 

10. Adjourn 

CITY/TOWN CLERKS:  PLEASE POST PURSUANT TO OPEN MEETING LAW 

Please contact Lesley Shahbazian at lshahbazian@nmcog.org with any questions on this agenda. 

 

http://www.nmcog.org/
https://us02web.zoom.us/j/83176268692


Northern Middlesex Council of Governments 
672 Suffolk Street, Suite 100 

Lowell, MA 01854 

Minutes from Council Meeting February 21, 2024 

I. The February 21, 2024 meeting of the Northern Middlesex Council of 
Governments (NMCOG) was held hybrid at 672 Suffolk Street, Suite 100, in the 
conference room and via Zoom. The meeting was called to order by Andrew 
Deslaurier at 7:00 PM. The following were in attendance: 

Councilors: 

• Andrew Deslaurier, Chair, Billerica Select Board 
• Christopher Tribou, Assistant Clerk, Billerica Planning Board 
• Mary McBride, Clerk, Billerica Alternate 
• Pat Wojtas, MPO Rep, Chelmsford Select Board 
• Annita Tanini, Chelmsford Planning Board 
• Douglas Bruce, Chelmsford Alternate 
• Heather Santiago-Hutchings, Dracut Select Board 
• Philippe Thibault – Dracut Alternate 
• Jim Wilkie, Dunstable Planning Board 
• Gerard Frechette, Treasurer, Lowell Planning Board 
• Chuck Walkovich, Pepperell Select Board 
• Stephen Themelis, Vice Chair, Pepperell Alternate 
• Jayne Wellman, Assistant Treasurer, Tewksbury Select Board 
• Darrin Wizst, Westford Planning Board 

Staff: 

• Jennifer Raitt, Executive Director 
• Kelly Lynema, Deputy Director 
 
II. Approval of Minutes 

The Minutes of the January 13, 2024 Special Council meeting were distributed to all 
Councilors for review. Based on a Motion by Stephen Themelis, seconded by Mary 
McBride on a roll call vote, the Council approved the Minutes of the January 13, 
2024 Special Council Meeting. 

The Minutes of the Council meeting on January 17, 2024 were distributed to all 
Councilors for review. Based on a Motion by Stephen Themelis, seconded by Mary 
McBride on a roll call vote, the Council approved the Minutes of the January 17, 
2024 Council meeting. 

 



III. Financial Report and Warrant  

Gerard Frechette, Treasurer, Lowell Planning Board, presented the Financial Report 
and Warrant for review and approval. Based on a Motion by Philippe Thibault, 
seconded by Mary McBride, following a roll call vote, the Council unanimously 
approved the Financial Report and Warrant.  
 

IV. Finance Committee Report – Approval of Community Assessments for 
FY 2025 (Vote Required) 

Gerard Frechette presented the Finance Committee Report. The Finance Committee 
– consisting of Gerard, Andrew, Jayne, Ms. Raitt, Kelly, and Sara- met on February 
6, 2024 to discuss increasing the Community Assessments.  

The objective was to bring the assessments up to where they reflect the services 
we provide. The Finance Committee voted to recommend to the Council the next 
fiscal year assessment. A three year plan was proposed, but each year will require 
a separate vote. 

Stephen Themelis recommended an explanation of services be provided to each 
municipality so they know what they are getting for their money. Gerard Frechette 
agreed. 

Pat Wojtas asked if there is a requirement to get permission to go above the 2½%. 
Ms. Raitt explained that there is not an additional step for approval by each 
community.  

Ms. Raitt will send a letter updating Town Treasurers with the assessment for FY25. 
She will also explain the assessments and approach to the municipal CEOs. 
Invoices will be sent this spring prior to the start of the fiscal year. These steps 
follow the same process as prior years. 

Based on a Motion by Stephen Themelis, seconded by Mary McBride, following a roll 
call vote, the Council unanimously approved the FY 2025 recommended increase in 
the Community Assessments. 

 

V. Presentation and Discussion of Development Schedules for: FFY 2025 – 
2029 Transportation Improvement Plan (TIP) Development and FFY 2025 
Unified Planning Work Program (UPWP) 

Ms. Raitt presented the Development Schedule for the FFY 2025 – 2029 
Transportation Improvement Plan (TIP). All the information presented is also 
included in the Envision 2050 plan, which is our regional transportation plan. 



Details of this presentation are in the meeting materials that were distributed prior 
to this meeting. 

Ms. Raitt also presented the Development Schedule for the FFY 2025 Unified 
Planning Work Program (UPWP). This is for informational purposes only – a Council 
vote is not required. Details of this presentation are in the meeting materials that 
were distributed prior to this meeting. 

Ms. Raitt also explained that for the last three fiscal years NMCOG did not spend 
approximately $280,000 in MassDOT funding. If we do not use this money it 
becomes de-obligated. In the future with a proper plan, we will aim to spend the 
full annual obligation and propose to MassDOT ways to utilize de-obligated funds in 
alignment with MassDOT’s allowable uses and spending requirements.  

VI. Schedule of NMCOG meetings March through June (Vote Required) 

Ms. Raitt presented the Proposed FY25 and FY26 budget process and Council 
meeting timeline that the Finance Committee discussed to better align with our 
municipalities with Town government structures. Towns’ follow fiscal year budget 
planning that begins in the fall and ends by the time the Council approved the 
recommended next fiscal year assessments. Moving this schedule up will better 
align with our work and communities processes moving forward.  

Additionally, Ms. Raitt request moving the May 15th Council meeting to May 22nd. At 
this meeting the Council will review and may approve the Council budget for the 
next fiscal year. Ms. Raitt also proposed canceling the June Council meeting and 
instead have our final strategic planning meeting on Thursday, June 13th at 7:00 
PM. We may include a brief business meeting at the start of this meeting if needed. 

Further details of this budget process and timeline can be found in the handout that 
was distributed at the meeting. 

Based on a Motion by Jayne Wellman, seconded by Mary McBride, following a roll 
call vote, the Council unanimously approved changing the May 15th Council meeting 
to May 22nd and cancelling the June Council meeting and replacing it with a 
Thursday night meeting on June 13th as part of the Strategic Planning retreat. 

VII. Report of the Executive Director – January 2024 

The Executive Director’s report was distributed for review to the Council in advance 
of this meeting. Ms. Raitt shared some highlights: 

The Federal Transit Administration and Federal Highway Administration conducted 
a four-year Federal Certification Review. The full day in-person meeting was well-
orchestrated and attended by many NMCOG staff. Ms. Raitt thanked multiple staff 



who helped pull together the review materials to prepare for the day, the 
presentation materials, the logistics, and other details. She also thanked those 
staff present who helped with brief presentations and answering questions about 
MPO activities. Attendees included MassDOT and LRTA staff. The results of this 
meeting will be solidified in draft report in May and finalized in June. 

Next week we will hold our first public forum for the Greater Lowell Vision Zero Plan.  

The Town of Pepperell requested our assistance with a Sealer for Weights and Measures. 
NMCOG will be providing services through the end of this fiscal year and will be contracting 
for the next fiscal year as well.  

Due to the predicted snow storm, the “At Home in Greater Lowell” meeting was 
rescheduled to March 12th.  

The Northern Middlesex Stormwater Collaborative hosted a meeting this week and it was 
well attended with all members present. 

NMCOG provided assistance to the Town of Dunstable with preparing and submitting a 
MassTrails grant application. NMCOG is available to provide these services to all our 
communities to research and help pursue state and federal funding opportunities. 

The Northern Middlesex CEO group supporting NMCOG applying for a Community 
Compact Regionalization Grant to fund a regional housing coordinator and help develop a 
regional housing services office. 

The audit is in progress and will be presented as the March or April Council meeting. 

NMCOG is in the process of hiring a new transportation planning program manager 
following Paul Christner’s departure. NMCOG also welcomed Meghan Tenhoff as the new 
Sustainability Planner II. 

VIII. Community Exchange 

Westford – Darrin Wizst – MBTA communities is still on top of the agenda. 
Westford had their second public meeting where there was a consultant there to 
answer any questions. Another public outreach session will be held in a few weeks 
prior to Annual Town Meeting. 

Pepperell – Stephen Themelis – a new gluten free bakery just opened up at 49 
Main Street in a renovated building. It has been very well received in the 
community.  

Lowell – Gerard Frechette – reported on accessory dwelling units. More details on 
this are provided in the handout he provided during the meeting. 



Dunstable – Jim Wilkie – He thanked Kelly Lynema for her help with the MassTrails 
grant application. The Town is forecasting a three-year shortfall of about $2.5 
million. An operating override is being discussed. 

Dracut – Heather Santiago – She thanked Kelly Lynema for attending their first 
MBTA public session. A survey is being distributed. They are facing a $3 million 
deficit. Town leaders are exploring solutions. A friendly 40B was endorsed. It is a 
40 unit rental on the corner of Bridge Street and Cross Road and it will add to their 
affordable housing inventory. 

Chelmsford – Pat Wojtas – Today was the soft opening for the first brewery in 
Chelmsford. Annita Tanini – the MBTA is coming up for Annual Town Meeting.  

Billerica – Andrew Deslaurier – there is another MBTA community information 
session next Monday, which have been positive and well attended overall. The 
Town Center vote was overturned by ballot and this was very disappointing.  

 

IX. Reminders and Announcements 

Greater Lowell Vision Zero Public Forum – February 27, 6-8 PM 

NMCOG Open House – March 14, 4-6 PM 

NMCOG Council Meeting – March 20, 7 PM 

NMMPO Meeting February 28, 2:00 PM 

At Home in Greater Lowell – March 12, 1-4 PM 

 

X. Adjournment 

Following a motion made by Mary McBride and seconded by Jayne Wellman on a 
voice vote the Council unanimously adjourned the meeting at 8:32 pm. 

 
 

CLERK’S CERTIFICATE 
I certify that this is a true copy of the Minutes of the meeting of 

February 21, 2024. 
 

 
 Mary K. McBride, Clerk 

Attest:  

 



Northern Middlesex Council of Governments
Vendor & Poyroll Worront

03121 /2024 through 04117 12024

Dote: Morch 20,2024 Amount $ r 06,600.35

WE THE COUNCILORS OF NORTHERN MIDDLESEX COUNCIL OF GOVERNMENTS BY A MOTION
TO APPROVE, VOTE IN FAVOR TO AUTHORIZE PAYMENT OF THIS WARRANT.

fwtrw(SIGNED: , Executive Director
Jendi.pr Roitt

, Billerico
, Billerico
, Billerico
, Chelmsford
, Chelmsford
, Chelmsford
, Drocut
, Drocut
, Drocut
, Dunstoble
, Dunstoble
, Dunstoble
, Lowell
, Lowell
, Lowell
, Pepperell
, Pepperell
, Pepperell
, Tewksbury
, Tewksbury
, Tewksbury
, Tyngsborough
, Tyngsborough
, Tyngsborough
, Wesiford
, Westford
, Westford



Northern Middlesex Council of Governments
Worront Report

Vendor
AMPO
Conon Finonciol Services
Corbon Colors
Comcost
Cytrocom
Fortune Lowell LLC

GMS
Guordion Life lnsuronce
Khmerpost USA LLC

MMA
Notionol Grid - Electric
Notionol Grid - Gos
PCG
Renoissonce Allionce lnsuronce
Rice Loke
Stoples
The Lowell Publishing Group
Verizon

Amounl
r 7s.00
682.83

r,2r 0.00
144.32
468.25

6,832.11
2s0.00
400.2s
448.64
25.00

377.62 *

525.70 *

125.00
2,457.76

44.80
771.59
691.rB

50.00

Description
Job Posting
Copier Leose Morch 2024
W&M lobels
Business lnternet
Telephone
Renl April 2024
Accounling Progrom
Life lnsuron ce April 2024
Tronsportotion Advertisin g/tronslotion
Job Posting
Estimoted
Estimoted
lT Moinionence
Office lnsuronce
Shipping for W&M Coses
Office Supplies
Tronsportotion Advertising/tronslotion
Stormwoter Mobile Broodbond 4GB SHR

Description
Poy period 03 / 09 I 24-03 I 22 I 24
Poy period 03 I 23 I 24-04 I 05 I 24

Vendor Totols 16.230.0s

PR-OZ

PR-OB

Poyroll& Toxes Amounl
45,t85.rs
45,r85.r5

I & Toxes Totols 90,370.30

Worronl Totol 106,600.35



DRAFT



DRAFT



DRAFT



DRAFT



DRAFT



DRAFT



DRAFT



DRAFT



DRAFT



DRAFT



DRAFT



DRAFT



DRAFT



DRAFT



DRAFT



DRAFT



DRAFT



DRAFT



DRAFT



DRAFT



DRAFT



DRAFT



DRAFT



DRAFT



DRAFT



DRAFT



DRAFT



DRAFT



DRAFT



DRAFT



DRAFT



DRAFT



DRAFT



DRAFT



DRAFT



DRAFT



DRAFT



DRAFT



DRAFT



DRAFT



DRAFT



DRAFT



DRAFT



DRAFT



DRAFT



DRAFT



DRAFT



DRAFT



DRAFT



DRAFT



Northern Middlesex Council of 
Governments (NMCOG)

June 30, 2023 
Audit

Mary M. Linskey, CPA
March 20, 2024



NMCOG
June 30, 2023
Audit Summary/Required Communications

• Auditor’s Report: Unmodified – “clean opinion”
• Financial Statement Audit

• No internal control findings were noted.

• Single Audit
• Required as federal expenditures exceeded the $750K Single Audit threshold 
• Metropolitan Transportation Planning and Non-Metropolitan Planning and 

Research (Assistance Listing # 20.505), was tested as the major program.
• No internal control or compliance findings related to these programs were 

noted.

• Prior Audit Findings
• None

• Management Comment (No formal letter issued)
• Management was unable to provide support for one payroll period sampled during the audit.

2



NMCOG
June 30, 2023
Required Communications
• Our Responsibility Under Generally Accepted Auditing Standards

• Our responsibility is to "express an opinion" as to whether the financial statements are
free of material misstatement.

• Management is responsible for the selection of accounting policies and the preparation
of the financial statements.

• Our Responsibility Under Generally Accepted Auditing Standards
• Our responsibility is to "express an opinion" as to whether the financial statements are

free of material misstatement.
• Management is responsible for the selection of accounting policies and the preparation

of the financial statements.
• Significant Accounting Policies

• Described in the footnotes (Note 2).
• There were no changes to application of existing policies.

• Accounting Transactions
• We noted no transactions entered in to by NMCOG during the year for which there is a

lack of authoritative guidance or consensus.

3



NMCOG
June 30, 2023
Required Communications

• Significant Audit Estimates
• Pension and OPEB liabilities
• Indirect costs rate
• Allowance for doubtful accounts

• Difficulties Encountered in Performing the Audit
• We encountered no difficulties encountered in dealing with management in

performing and completing our audit.

• Corrected and Uncorrected Misstatements
• There were no uncorrected misstatements.
• The following material misstatements were detected as a result of audit procedures 

and corrected by management:
• $424K decrease in OPEB liability
• $226K increase in revenue that had been deferred
• $126K decrease in due to grantor liability 
• $21K increase in deferred revenue for FY24 expense reimbursements 4



NMCOG
June 30, 2023
Required Communications

• Disagreements with Management
• There were no disagreements with management that could be significant to the

financial statements or the auditor’s report.

• Management Representations
• We have requested certain representations from management that are included in

the management representation letter dated March 20, 2024.

• Management Consultations with Other Independent Accountants
• To our knowledge, there were no consultations with other accountants.

• Discussions Prior to Our Retention as Independent Auditors
• All discussions with management occurred in the normal course of our

professional relationship and our responses were not a condition to our retention.

5



NMCOG
June 30, 2023
Required Communications
• Required Supplementary Information (RSI)

• We applied limited procedures to RSI schedules which consisted of inquiries of
management and comparing the information in the RSI for consistency with
management’s responses, the basic financial statements, and other knowledge
obtained during the audit.

• We did not audit the RSI and do not express on opinion or provide assurance on
the RSI.

• Supplementary Information
• We made certain inquiries of management and evaluated the form, content, and

methods of preparing the information to determine that the information complies
with U.S. generally accepted accounting principles, the method of preparing it has
not changed from the prior period, and the information is appropriate and
complete in relation to our audit of the financial statements.

• This information is intended solely for the use of the Council, and 
management of NMCOG and is not intended to be, and should not be, 
used by anyone other than these specified parties. 

6



NMCOG
June 30, 2023
Financial Review – Statements of Net Position

7

2023 2022 Change Notes

Assets

Cash and cash equivalents 1,147,473$    948,502$       198,971$      
▲  Contract advances; expenses 
under budget

Accounts receivable 303,119         299,158         3,961            
Prepaid expenses 11,930           41,381           (29,451)         
Fixed asset, net 17,181           -                     17,181          ▲  New server
Operating lease asset 30,986           128,682         (97,696)         ▼ Current year amortization

Total assets 1,510,689$    1,417,723$    92,966$        

Liabilities and Net Position
Accounts payable/accrued expenses 4,179$           9,745$           (5,566)$         
Grants payable -                     125,827         (125,827)       ▼ MDOT not requiring return
Contract advances 237,964         135,020         102,944        ▲  DLTA grant timing/project work
Accrued compensation 87,306           152,861         (65,555)         ▼ Current year departures

Net OPEB liability 499,794         923,671         (423,877)       
▼ Demographics/actuarial 
assumptions

Deferred revenue 20,920           -                     20,920          
Operating lease liability 33,349           128,682         (95,333)         ▲  Current year lease payments

Total liabilites 883,512         1,475,806      (592,294)       

Unrestricted - OPEB (499,794)        (923,671)        423,877        
Unrestricted - general 1,111,971      865,588         246,383        
Restricted 15,000           -                     15,000          

Total net position 627,177         (58,083)          685,260        

Total liabilities & net assets 1,510,689$    1,417,723$    92,966$        


Sheet1

						2023				2022				Change				Notes

		Assets

		Cash and cash equivalents				$   1,147,473				$   948,502				$   198,971				▲  Contract advances; expenses under budget

		Accounts receivable				303,119				299,158				3,961

		Prepaid expenses				11,930				41,381				(29,451)

		Fixed asset, net				17,181				-				17,181				▲  New server

		Operating lease asset				30,986				128,682				(97,696)				▼ Current year amortization

		Total assets				$   1,510,689				$   1,417,723				$   92,966

		Liabilities and Net Position

		Accounts payable/accrued expenses				$   4,179				$   9,745				$   (5,566)

		Grants payable				-				125,827				(125,827)				▼ MDOT not requiring return

		Contract advances				237,964				135,020				102,944				▲  DLTA grant timing/project work

		Accrued compensation				87,306				152,861				(65,555)				▼ Current year departures

		Net OPEB liability				499,794				923,671				(423,877)				▼ Demographics/actuarial assumptions

		Deferred revenue				20,920				-				20,920

		Operating lease liability				33,349				128,682				(95,333)				▲  Current year lease payments

		Total liabilites				883,512				1,475,806				(592,294)

		Unrestricted - OPEB				(499,794)				(923,671)				423,877

		Unrestricted - general				1,111,971				865,588				246,383

		Restricted				15,000				-				15,000

		Total net position				627,177				(58,083)				685,260

		Total liabilities & net assets				$   1,510,689				$   1,417,723				$   92,966







NMCOG
June 30, 2023
Financial Review – Statements of Revenues, Expenses and         
Changes in Net Position

8

2023 2022 Change Notes
Operating revenue
Federal, state and local grants 1,555,708$   1,300,101$       255,607$          ▲ Contract work/staffing shortage in PY
Local assessments 105,591         95,061               10,530               
Other income 131,175         7,339                 123,836            ▲ Reversal of due to MDOT liability
Total operating revenue 1,792,474     1,402,501         389,973            

Operating expenses
Direct payroll 666,507         525,890             140,617            ▲ Contract work/staffing shortage in PY
Other direct costs 81,345           67,256               14,089               
Unallowed costs/adjustments (421,514)       89,798               (511,312)           ▼ OPEB
Indirect costs 780,876         705,731             75,145               ▲ Contract work/staffing shortage in PY
Total operating expenses 1,107,214     1,388,675         (281,461)           

Change in net position 685,260         13,826               671,434            
▲  $550K due to OPEB and MDOT liability 
reversal

Net position, beginning of year (58,083)          (71,909)              13,826               

Change in net position 627,177$      (58,083)$           685,260$          


Sheet1

						2023				2022				Change				Notes

		Operating revenue

		Federal, state and local grants				$   1,555,708				$   1,300,101				$   255,607				▲ Contract work/staffing shortage in PY

		Local assessments				105,591				95,061				10,530

		Other income				131,175				7,339				123,836				▲ Reversal of due to MDOT liability

		Total operating revenue				1,792,474				1,402,501				389,973

		Operating expenses

		Direct payroll				666,507				525,890				140,617				▲ Contract work/staffing shortage in PY

		Other direct costs				81,345				67,256				14,089

		Unallowed costs/adjustments				(421,514)				89,798				(511,312)				▼ OPEB

		Indirect costs				780,876				705,731				75,145				▲ Contract work/staffing shortage in PY

		Total operating expenses				1,107,214				1,388,675				(281,461)

		Change in net position				685,260				13,826				671,434				▲  $550K due to OPEB and MDOT liability reversal

		Net position, beginning of year				(58,083)				(71,909)				13,826

		Change in net position				$   627,177				$   (58,083)				$   685,260







NMCOG
June 30, 2023
Financial Review – Schedule of Indirect Costs

9

2023 2022 Change Notes
Personnel - clerical and admin 272,412$            191,072$            81,340$              ▼ PY Staffing shortage/retirements
Fringe benefits - paid time off 30,379                58,812                 (28,433)               ▼ PY retirements/buy back
Fringe benefits - insurance 233,435              191,419              42,016                ▲ Premium costs/PY staffing 
Fringe benefits - payroll taxes 13,515                3,130                   10,385                
Equipment and supplies 54,276                48,058                 6,218                   
Depreciation 1,049                   -                            1,049                   
Rent and utilities 107,046              104,417              2,629                   
Insurance                     6,823                     5,764                     1,059 
Advertising 11,199                5,789                   5,410                   
Postage 880                      1,752                   (872)                     
Telephone 7,762                   6,628                   1,134                   
Professional development 4,182                   -                            4,182                   
Professional fees 31,418                21,213                 10,205                ▲ IT assessments
Admin/contract travel 341                      6                           335                      
OPEB funding -                            60,000                 (60,000)               ▼ PY contribution
Dues and subscriptions 6,159                   7,671                   (1,512)                 

Total indirect costs 780,876$            705,731$            136,657$            

Indirect costs 780,876$            705,731$            
Direct salaries 666,507              525,890              
Indirect cost rate 117.1595% 134.1975%


Sheet1

						2023				2022				Change				Notes

		Personnel - clerical and admin				$   272,412				$   191,072				$   81,340				▼ PY Staffing shortage/retirements

		Fringe benefits - paid time off				30,379				58,812				(28,433)				▼ PY retirements/buy back

		Fringe benefits - insurance				233,435				191,419				42,016				▲ Premium costs/PY staffing

		Fringe benefits - payroll taxes				13,515				3,130				10,385

		Equipment and supplies				54,276				48,058				6,218

		Depreciation				1,049				-				1,049

		Rent and utilities				107,046				104,417				2,629

		Insurance				6,823				5,764				1,059

		Advertising				11,199				5,789				5,410

		Postage				880				1,752				(872)

		Telephone				7,762				6,628				1,134

		Professional development				4,182				-				4,182

		Professional fees				31,418				21,213				10,205				▲ IT assessments

		Admin/contract travel				341				6				335

		OPEB funding				-				60,000				(60,000)				▼ PY contribution

		Dues and subscriptions				6,159				7,671				(1,512)

		Total indirect costs				$   780,876				$   705,731				$   136,657

		Indirect costs				$   780,876				$   705,731

		Direct salaries				666,507				525,890

		Indirect cost rate				117.1595%				134.1975%







2024 GREATER LOWELL 
ANNUAL CEDS REPORT
P r e s e n t a t i o n  t o  N M C O G  C o u n c i l ,  M a r c h  2 0 , 2 0 2 4



THE 
CEDS 
REPORT

The CEDS Annual Performance Report 
highlights key changes to the regional 
economy and the corresponding priorities 
and strategies.

It also should list the accomplishments of the 
regional economic development entity 
(NMCOG) and the district as a whole.

It should be concise and easily accessible to 
both the public and decision-makers.

3/21/20242024 GREATER LOWELL ANNUAL CEDS REPORT

Image: LDFC

THIS DOCUMENT COMMUNICATES CHANGES TO 
EDA, BUT MORE IMPORTANTLY HELP REGIONAL 
PARTNERS WORK WITH ONE ANOTHER.



33/21/20242024 GREATER LOWELL ANNUAL CEDS REPORT

Interest rates peaked at 9.1% over the 
summer and remain at around 7%.

Source: themortgagereports.com

IN 2023, THE REGION SAW CONTINUED RECOVERY AND CONTINUED CHALLENGES

INFLATION AND INTEREST RATE HIKES – HOUSING PRICES AND SALES 
SLOWDOWN



43/21/20242024 GREATER LOWELL ANNUAL CEDS REPORT

Despite this, median sales prices have 
mostly continued growing, now 
between roughly $450,000 in Lowell 
and $850,000 in Dunstable.

Westford and Chelmsford saw a slight 
decrease in median sales price. A 
recent trend has been luxury housing 
in Massachusetts seeing lowering 
prices, especially in Metrowest.

These prices are not inflation-
adjusted.

Source: Warren Grou$0

$100,000

$200,000

$300,000

$400,000

$500,000

$600,000

$700,000

$800,000

$900,000

$1,000,000

MA Billerica Chelmsford Dracut Dunstable Lowell Pepperell Tewksbury Tyngsboro Westford

Median Single Family Home Sales Price

2019 2020 2021 2022 2023

IN 2023, THE REGION SAW CONTINUED RECOVERY AND CONTINUED CHALLENGES

INFLATION AND INTEREST RATE HIKES – HOUSING PRICES AND SALES 
SLOWDOWN



53/21/20242024 GREATER LOWELL ANNUAL CEDS REPORT

The combination of high prices and 
high interest rates has resulted in a 
large decline of home sales for the 
last two years. This is true in our 
region especially of single family 
detached homes in the suburban 
communities.

Source: Warren Group

0

500

1000

1500

2000

2500

2014 2015 2016 2017 2018 2019 2020 2021 2022 2023

N
um

be
r 

of
 U

ni
ts

 S
ol

d

Number of Single Family Detached and Condos Sold

1-Family, Lowell Condo, Lowell 1-Family, Outside Lowell Condo, Outside Lowell

IN 2023, THE REGION SAW CONTINUED RECOVERY AND CONTINUED CHALLENGES

INFLATION AND INTEREST RATE HIKES – HOUSING PRICES AND SALES 
SLOWDOWN



6

IN 2023, THE REGION SAW CONTINUED RECOVERY AND CONTINUED CHALLENGES

POPULATION DECLINE AND IMPACT ON EMPLOYMENT

3/21/20242024 GREATER LOWELL ANNUAL CEDS REPORT

2022’s one-year estimates have shown 
two years of population decline in 
Massachusetts, Middlesex County, and 
the City of Lowell. Population levels 
are estimated to be nearly where they 
were in 2017.

The U.S. was estimated to have a 
decline in 2022 after slow growth in 
2021.

Source:  American Community Survey

-1.0%

-0.5%

0.0%

0.5%

1.0%

1.5%

2.0%

2.5%

3.0%

3.5%

4.0%

2017 2018 2019 2020 2021 2022

Population Change in Percentage 2017-2022

United States Massachusetts Middlesex Lowell



73/21/20242024 GREATER LOWELL ANNUAL CEDS REPORT

2020 tax returns (during COVID) 
showed the largest group moving 
from Massachusetts was aged 26 to 
35.

Source:  Massachusetts Tax Foundation

IN 2023, THE REGION SAW CONTINUED RECOVERY AND CONTINUED CHALLENGES

POPULATION DECLINE AND IMPACT ON EMPLOYMENT



83/21/20242024 GREATER LOWELL ANNUAL CEDS REPORT

Unemployment in the region echoes Massachusetts’s low 
unemployment rate. In fact, the City of Lowell, long having 
a worse unemployment rate than the US—now is 3.4% 
compared to the US’s 3.5%

However, the labor force has been slowly shrinking from 
its post-pandemic high of 170,000 participants. This makes 
it hard for businesses to hire or expand.

Source:  Bureau of Labor Statistics

120000

130000

140000

150000

160000

170000

180000

Sum of Employed Sum of Unemployed

Geography Unemployment

United States 3.5

Massachusetts 2.8

Greater Lowell 2.8

City of Lowell 3.4

Region Outside of Lowell 2.5

IN 2023, THE REGION SAW CONTINUED RECOVERY AND CONTINUED CHALLENGES

POPULATION DECLINE AND IMPACT ON EMPLOYMENT



93/21/20242024 GREATER LOWELL ANNUAL CEDS REPORT

This labor shortage is creating many different types of impacts:

 Due to difficulties finding drivers, LRTA was forced to reduce bus service by 30.1% Vehicle Revenue Hours, 
including turning half-hour headways into hour headways on City of Lowell routes and making some routes one-
way loops.

 Staffing shortages combined with the ride of online shopping and decline of in-person work has negatively 
impacted small restaurant and retail businesses in business districts.

 Municipalities are having trouble attracting qualified specialist positions, especially as pandemic-era grants are 
expiring and state support is uncertain—due to reduced tax receipts potentially due to lower property sales.

IN 2023, THE REGION SAW CONTINUED RECOVERY AND CONTINUED CHALLENGES

POPULATION DECLINE AND IMPACT ON EMPLOYMENT



10

IN 2023, THE REGION SAW CONTINUED RECOVERY AND CONTINUED CHALLENGES

BUSINESS FORMATION SLOWING AND FIRMS DECLINING

3/21/20242024 GREATER LOWELL ANNUAL CEDS REPORT

-2.00%

0.00%

2.00%

4.00%

6.00%

8.00%

10.00%

12.00%

14.00%

Q1 2021 Q2 2021 Q3 2021 Q4 2021 Q1 2022 Q2 2022 Q3 2022 Q4 2022 Q1 2023 Q2 2023

Number of Establishments change

US MA Outside of Lowell Lowell

Business formation in the region was 
strong until Q3 2022.

Despite growing numbers of 
businesses in Massachusetts and the 
US in 2022-23, business growth in our 
region seems to have completely 
stopped after Q3 2022.

Source:  Bureau of Labor Statistics



11

IN 2023, THE REGION SAW CONTINUED RECOVERY AND CONTINUED CHALLENGES

BUSINESS FORMATION SLOWING AND FIRMS DECLINING

3/21/20242024 GREATER LOWELL ANNUAL CEDS REPORT

When examining by industry, between Q1 2022 and Q1 2023:

 The number of Natural Resources and Mining establishments decreased by over 22%

 Information establishments grew by over 8%

 The number of employees increased the most in Public Administration, Education and Health Services, 
and Manufacturing

 The largest declines in employees were in Trade, Transportation, and Utilities, Information, and 
Professional and Business Services

 Unlike 2021-22, where almost all sector’s wages grew, 2022-23 saw declines in wages in Trade, Transportation, 
and Utilities and Information



12

IN 2023, THE REGION SAW CONTINUED RECOVERY AND CONTINUED CHALLENGES

BUSINESS FORMATION SLOWING AND FIRMS DECLINING

3/21/20242024 GREATER LOWELL ANNUAL CEDS REPORT

NAIC
S #

Claimant Count by 
NAICS Industry Name

May 
2021

May 
2022

May 
2023

Over-The-Year 
Change

22 Utilities 7 4 7 75%
23 Construction 291 263 321 22.1%
31-33 Manufacturing 328 78 242 210.3%
42 Wholesale Trade 132 70 130 85.7%
44-45 Retail Trade 275 94 156 66%

48-49
Transportation and 
Warehousing

135 59 85 44.1%

51 Information 46 31 93 200%
52 Finance and Insurance 81 44 82 86.4%

53
Real Estate and Rental 
Leasing

38 32 36 12.5%

54
Professional, Scientific, and 
Technical Services

225 144 457 217.4%

55
Management of Companies 
and Enterprises

20 9 13 44.4%

56
Admin & Support, Waste 
Mgmt & Remediation Serv.

405 205 277 35.1%

61 Educational Services 52 28 31 10.7%

62
Health Care and Social 
Assistance

322 142 251 76.8%

71
Arts, Entertainment, and 
Recreation

33 8 22 175%

72
Accommodation and Food 
Services

235 104 111 6.7%

81
Other Services (except 
Public Administration)

255 116 139 19.8%

92 Public Administration 75 23 86 273.9%
99 INA (No NAICS Code) 85 77 161 109.1%

All Industries 3,040 1,531 2,700 7.6%

Construction, Manufacturing, and Public Administration saw 
largest jumps in number of unemployment claimants.

However, all sectors had increases.

Accommodation and Food Services and Educational 
Services had only small increases.



13

 Drug Crisis: The 2022 Greater Lowell Health Needs Assessment Report noted between 2015-2021, Lowell 
experienced 400 opioid-related deaths and the overdose death rates are above the state rate. It noted Hispanic 
or Latino and Black populations are far less likely to receive medications for opiate use disorder.

 Environmental Sustainability and Resilience: TBD

 Water and Wastewater Infrastructure: In December 2023, the City of Lowell was penalized $200,000 by the 
Environmental Protection Agency and the Massachusetts Department of Environmental Protection for violating 
the Clean Water Act associated with combined sewer overflows. This system serves not only Lowell, but four 
other municipalities in the region. PFAS continues to be a concern in some communities and they are prioritizing 
mitigation.

 Need for Broadband Access: This is a need both from residents who need access to online services and small 
businesses that need to expand their online presence with limited resources to do so.

 State of Emergency and UML Inn and Conference Center: The Massachusetts family shelter system is 
stressed. The UML ICC has been leased to be an emergency shelter, which may impact downtown Lowell, even if 
there are long-term prospects of the ICC being used as a hospitality training center for Middlesex Community 
College.

3/21/20242024 GREATER LOWELL ANNUAL CEDS REPORT

IN 2023, THE REGION SAW CONTINUED RECOVERY AND CONTINUED CHALLENGES

OTHER IMPACTS AND CONSIDERATIONS



143/21/20242024 GREATER LOWELL ANNUAL CEDS REPORT

IN 2023, THE REGION SAW CONTINUED RECOVERY AND CONTINUED CHALLENGES

OTHER IMPACTS AND CONSIDERATIONS

17%

9%

9%

11%

9%

9%

11%

31%

26%

23%

26%

26%

28%

29%

23%

24%

22%

28%

24%

25%

25%

17%

24%

25%

21%

24%

23%

21%

11%

16%

21%

13%

16%

16%

15%

0% 10% 20% 30% 40% 50% 60% 70% 80% 90% 100%

City of Lowell

Greater Lowell

MA

US

2018-22

2016-20

2014-18

Educational Attainment

    Less than high school graduate

    High school graduate (includes equivalency)

    Some college or associate's degree

    Bachelor's degree

    Graduate or professional degree

Educational attainment in our region 
continues to improve, with a growing number 
of population with advanced degrees.

This includes improvement both in the City 
of Lowell and the other municipalities.

That said, Greater Lowell still trails 
Massachusetts in graduate degrees, and Lowell 
trails the U.S. in all metrics.

Source:  American Community Survey



15

SUMMARY

 After two years of pandemic recovery, this recovery has slowed somewhat in Massachusetts and our region

 High interest rates combined with high housing costs have made it difficult for people to buy homes

 Massachusetts is experiencing an out-migration of young people who would normally be entering the workforce 
– our region is likely following this pattern

 Our region is underperforming compared to the rest of Massachusetts in terms of new business formation

 Our region saw job losses in in Professional and Business Services, Information and Trade, 
Transportation, and Utilities – these last two sectors experienced a decline in average wages between 2022-
23.

 There are other headwinds against a strong economy: Declining transit access, reduced tax receipts, and 
continued community needs.

 The region has excellent educational attainment as a key asset when compared to the U.S., although not 
compared to Massachusetts.

 Conclusion: Ebbing of growth, possibly due to weakening cost of living vs. wage dynamic as compared to 
Massachusetts and rest of U.S.

3/21/20242024 GREATER LOWELL ANNUAL CEDS REPORT



CEDS 2024 SCHEDULE OF GOALS
WHAT WE’LL DO TOGETHER TO BE MORE SUSTAINABLE, RESILIENT,  INCLUSIVE, RESPONSIVE, AND 
EQUITABLE

3/21/20242024 GREATER LOWELL ANNUAL CEDS REPORT



17

2024 SCHEDULE OF GOALS

1. Complete the 2025-2029 CEDS

 Work with consultant to create plan for region

 Focus on building capacity at NMCOG, including tracking implementation and equitable outcomes

 Hold major Economic Development summit in late fall/early winter to finalize plan

 Integrate Regional Blueprint from Greater Lowell Workforce Board and Priority Climate Action Plan from CPRG work

2. Planning for Housing at Local and Regional Levels

 Complete Housing Production Plans for Lowell, Dracut, Chelmsford, and Tyngsborough

 Advance the “At Home in Greater Lowell” Regional Housing Strategic Plan

 Seek funding for Regional Housing Services Organization

3. MBTA Community Multi-Family Compliance

 Support municipalities in advancing zoning amendments complaint with MBTA Communities Policy

3/21/20242024 GREATER LOWELL ANNUAL CEDS REPORT



18

2024 SCHEDULE OF GOALS

4. Local and Regional Infrastructure

 Establish a regional working group to identify next steps to address sewer capacity issues based on the 2023 study

 Support exploration of sewer system within Westford

 Coordinate with interested municipalities to create a PFAS Response Strategy

 Seek funding and research programs to assist with mapping electrical energy sources and availability

5. Regional Energy and Sustainability Planning and Coordination

 Advance Regional Priority Climate Action Plan (PCAP)

 Learn and report with ResilientMass' new infrastructure and climate data projection tools

 Educate municipalities on the PACE municipal opt-in process to increase program participation

 Seek funding/capacity to ID financial models for meeting stretch energy codes

6. Enhance Regional Transportation Planning

 Use Replica software to evaluate travel patterns throughout the region

 Research Complete Streets implementation sources and create scope of work for Complete Streets prioritization

3/21/20242024 GREATER LOWELL ANNUAL CEDS REPORT



19

2024 SCHEDULE OF GOALS

7. Transit and Alternative Transportation Connections

 Inventory bus routes for amenities and accessibility, including verifying and correcting data

 Develop a scope of work for a regional bicycle/pedestrian plan and start the planning process

 Evaluate MassHire Greater Lowell’s ride sharing pilot project for employees in the region

 Prepare for the Billerica-Yankee Doodle Bike Path Construction Project to commence in FY25

8. Continue Focus on Transportation Safety and State of Good Repair on Projects of Regional Importance

 Advance the contract with FHWA and MassDOT to repair and upgrade Lowell’s bridges

 Advance other rehabilitation and replacement projects, including Rourke Bridge

9. Strengthen Childcare Networks to Support Employment Opportunities and Economic Mobility for Child 
Guardians

 Review municipal zoning to ensure that childcare-related uses, such as in-home daycares, are allowed-by-right

3/21/20242024 GREATER LOWELL ANNUAL CEDS REPORT



20

2024 SCHEDULE OF GOALS

10. Regional Digital Equity Plan

 Outreach to stakeholders and populations facing barriers to achieving digital equity and connect them with programming to 
address infrastructure, device, and literacy needs

 Seek funding for initiatives to advance digital equity through education and equipment acquisition

 Evaluate and compare small retail and service businesses adoption of Internet-based service models to determine best ways 
to assist in their growth

11. Grant Application and Administration Capacity Building

 Identify top project priorities at Dunstable, Pepperell, and Tewksbury

 Research, assess, and identify funding opportunities including Community Compact

12. Revitalization of Regional Network of Village and Neighborhood Centers

 Explore methods and create process for inventorying vacant storefronts

 Complete Chelmsford Center Village Master Plan Update

 Complete Dunstable Union Building Project

 Support other projects that revitalize network of centers

3/21/20242024 GREATER LOWELL ANNUAL CEDS REPORT



21

2024 SCHEDULE OF GOALS

13. Industrial and Mixed-Use Development

 When project is identified, apply for EDA funding to make necessary transportation improvements on Locust Avenue

 Evaluate the approach to promotion and utilization of Opportunity Zones

 Continue support of HCID and Route 3 NH border SB exit

14. Enhance Tourism and Visitation

 Complete the Greater Lowell Tourism and Visitation Report

 Renew the Greater Lowell Tourism and Visitation Committee

 Collaborate on a visual brand or other ways to promote tourism in the region in preparation of upcoming historic anniversaries

15. Economic Development District Application

 Continue working with the EDA to achieve Economic Development District (EDD) designation

3/21/20242024 GREATER LOWELL ANNUAL CEDS REPORT



• Chris Hayes, Economic Development and Housing Planner

• chayes@nmcog.org

• (978) 454-8021 x122

• Isabel Emmet, Regional Planner

• iemmet@nmcog.org

• (978) 454-8021 x117

THANKS!
3/21/20242024 GREATER LOWELL ANNUAL CEDS REPORT

mailto:chayes@nmcog.org
https://www.google.com/search?q=nmcog&rlz=1C1GCEU_enUS974US974&oq=nmcog+&aqs=chrome..69i57j69i59l3j69i60j69i61j69i60l2.3911j0j9&sourceid=chrome&ie=UTF-8
mailto:jowen@nmcog.org
https://www.google.com/search?q=nmcog&rlz=1C1GCEU_enUS974US974&oq=nmcog+&aqs=chrome..69i57j69i59l3j69i60j69i61j69i60l2.3911j0j9&sourceid=chrome&ie=UTF-8


   
 

FEBRUARY 2024 – NMCOG EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR’S REPORT       1  

To: Northern Middlesex Council of Governments, Council and Alternate Members  
From:  Jennifer Raitt, Executive Director 
Re:         Executive Director’s Report for February 
Date:     February 2024 
 
REGIONAL PLANNING ACTIVITIES 
 
Transportation/ Northern Middlesex Metropolitan Planning Organization (NMMPO) 
• Traffic Counting Program  

In February staff worked on various activities related to the 2024 Traffic Counting Season and 
began work on the 2022 Traffic Volume Report.    
 
At the end of January, staff had released a Request for Proposals on COMMBUYS, the official 
procurement record system for the state, to retain a consultant to assist with data collection in 
the 2024 Traffic Counting Season. Bids in response to the Traffic Counting RFP are due on 
March 1; staff will begin review of all bids on March 11, and will award a contract for the 2024 
Traffic Counting Season on March 15. To prepare for this work, in February, staff finalized the 
RFP Scoring Sheet in anticipation of reviewing bids. Staff also received MassDOT-required count 
locations for the 2024 season.   

 
• Federal Certification Review 

On February 8, the Federal Highway Administration (FHWA) and Federal Transit Administration 
(FTA) reviewed the metropolitan transportation planning process conducted by the NMMPO, 
MassDOT, LRTA, area providers of public transportation, and local municipal partners in order 
to certify that they are carrying out the process in accordance with all applicable Federal 
requirements. FHWA and FTA will issue a report assessing this process, with any accompanying 
findings and recommendations, this spring.  

 
• Lowell Regional Transit Authority (LRTA) Planning Support 

NMCOG staff continued the LRTA bus stop inventory, assessing and documenting the 
condition, accessibility, and amenities at each stop. Staff have inventoried approximately 
35% of LRTA bus stops and submitted another list of discrepancies to LRTA to review. Staff 
also submitted and verified the list of discrepancies from the previous month to Trillium, 
the host of LRTA’s online transit data. Staff also created a transit map of Billerica for the 
Town’s Open Space and Recreation Update at the request of LRTA Advisory Board 
member Andrew Jennings.  

 
REGIONAL ACTIVITIES AND COLLABORATIONS 
• Greater Lowell Vision Zero Plan 

On Tuesday, February 27, 2024, NMCOG hosted the Greater Lowell Vision Zero Public Forum 1.  
Our technical consultant, WSP, presented the high-injury crash corridors and intersections 
throughout our nine communities. Vision Zero is a strategy to eliminate all traffic fatalities and 
severe injuries. This approach recognizes that people make mistakes and that we can design 
policies and projects to address safety.  
 



   
 

FEBRUARY 2024 – NMCOG EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR’S REPORT       2  

The meeting included a presentation of the NMCOG region’s High-Injury corridors, which 
represent corridors and intersections prone to crashes, and a High-Risk network, which 
indicates areas with an increased risk or higher probability of an accident. Both approaches will 
allow NMCOG staff and WSP to formulate projects and interventions to address risk and 
prevent motor vehicle-related injuries. This data will be used to recommend specific 
infrastructure projects and interventions for implementation throughout the nine communities 
that comprise the Greater Lowell region. Upon this plan's completion, the nine Greater Lowell 
communities will be eligible to apply for federal funding under the Safe Streets and Roads for 
All Grant Program. 

 
• Regional Municipal Digital Equity Planning Program 

NMCOG and the Metropolitan Area Planning Council (MAPC) staff continued reaching out to 
key stakeholders to schedule focus group interviews to discuss digital equity-related challenges 
in their daily work. By the end of February, interviews with groups representing organizations 
involved in community empowerment, healthcare, youth programming, economic 
development, disability advocacy, libraries, housing, and telecommunications were completed. 
Several more interviews will be conducted in March, along with planning for upcoming 
charrettes in individual municipalities. 

 
• “At Home in Greater Lowell” Regional Housing Strategy 

Staff prepared for the March 12 At Home in Greater Lowell Kickoff Summit (rescheduled from 
February due to forecasted inclement weather). At the meeting, more than eighty elected 
officials, board members, housing experts, and community members gathered to begin the 
collaborative planning process, learning about resources, and set goals for the regional housing 
strategy. Preparation included coordination with keynote speaker, State Representative James 
Arciero, and panelists Robert Shumeyko of the US Department of Housing and Urban 
Development, Eric Shupin of the MA Executive Office of Housing and Livable Communities, 
Dana LeWinter of the Massachusetts Housing Partnership, Kirk Fulton of the Chelmsford 
Housing Authority, and Keith Bergman, a 37-year municipal manager. Staff will next be working 
to formalize goals and objectives for discussion at the next summit this summer, create and 
distribute a meeting summary, apply for additional funding for the project, finalize the “Home is 
Everything” storytelling campaign and develop an RFP for campaign implementation. 
 

• Northern Middlesex Council of Governments Stormwater Collaborative 
Staff held the Q1 Stormwater Collaborative meeting at NMCOG on Tuesday, February 20. The 
agenda topics included a facilitated discussion around the recent flood events—including 
assessment, response, and evaluation—and updating the Stormwater Collaborative MOU. 
Members of the Collaborative requested a presentation on the proposed changes to the 
Stormwater Handbook and Good-Housekeeping training for employees, which staff are 
currently preparing. 
 

• Climate Pollution Reduction Grant (CPRG) 
MAPC submitted our regional Priority Climate Action Plan (PCAP), developed in collaboration 
with NMCOG and other regional planning agencies in the Boston Metropolitan Statistical Area 
to the EPA. This submission makes NMCOG communities eligible to apply for funding for 
"shovel-ready" projects to reduce climate pollution.  



   
 

FEBRUARY 2024 – NMCOG EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR’S REPORT       3  

 
Boston, Lowell, and Chelsea are working together to secure funding for retrofitting affordable 
housing, aiming to decarbonize, reduce energy consumption, and energy costs for residents. 
The proposed project aligns with grant program goals, establishing replicable initiatives that 
reduce GHGs and benefit Justice40/EJ communities. NMCOG provided guidance to the Lowell 
Housing Authority (LHA) in selecting two potential housing sites for retrofit activities by 
reviewing LHA housing stock and utilizing EJScreen (the EPA's Environmental Justice tool), and 
the Climate and Economic Justice Screening Tool (CEJST). These tools were used to prioritize 
investment in EJ communities while ensuring project replicability across the national affordable 
housing stock. EJScreen Community Reports for the two selected sites are attached to this 
report. 

 
• Comprehensive Economic Development Strategy (CEDS) Annual Report 

A draft of the 2024 CEDS Report was sent to CEDS committee members for review on Friday, 
February 23.  On March 1, a subcommittee of the CEDS Committee met to hear a brief of 
economic trends NMCOG has noted in the region over 2023 and to develop 2024’s economic 
development priorities in response to those trends. The CEDS Committee met March 7 to refine 
these priorities, which will be packaged with the trend information into an Annual CEDS 
Performance Report that will be voted on by the CEDS committee in March and, if successful, 
presented to the NMCOG Council for a vote at the Council’s March meeting. After adoption, the 
report is sent to EDA and posted on the NMCOG website. 
 

• Economic Development Administration (EDA) Grant 
NMCOG received a “merits further consideration” letter from the EDA for a $75,000 planning 
grant to create a new Comprehensive Economic Development Strategy (CEDS); this strategy is 
critical both for allowing NMCOG and its member communities to receive grants from EDA and 
for coordinating and prioritizing the activities of NMCOG; local, regional, and state economic 
development agencies; and municipalities. The current CEDS expires May 30, 2025. NMCOG 
sent the required documentation mid-February and is awaiting a grant announcement. 

 
• Weights and Measures 

During the month of February, NMCOG’s Weights and Measures program conducted 51 
inspections in the communities of Billerica, Chelmsford, Dracut, Littleton, Lowell, Tewksbury, 
Tyngsborough, and Westford. Of those 51 inspections, 48 were annual inspections and 3 were 
requested by a new business or a business installing additional devices. The outcome of these 
inspections resulted in 245 devices being inspected, with 239 sealed and 6 condemned for 
being outside of acceptable tolerance. Pepperell has been added to our portfolio of 
communities that Weights and Measures serves with inspections beginning in March.  
   

ASSISTANCE TO INDIVIDUAL COMMUNITIES 
 
• Multi-Family Zoning for MBTA Communities – Compliance Activities 

NMCOG continued work with communities subject to MBTA Communities Law across the 
region. In February, staff worked with the planning staffs of Chelmsford, Billerica, and Westford 
to advance public outreach plans in the weeks leading to Annual Town Meeting. The goal of 
this outreach is to educate the public, municipal staff and board members, and town meeting 



   
 

FEBRUARY 2024 – NMCOG EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR’S REPORT       4  

members on the Section 3A MBTA Communities Multi-Family Zoning Law requirements, non-
compliance consequences, selected district boundaries and the proposed bylaw amendments. 
Staff also participated in calls with the Massachusetts Attorney General’s Office (AGO) to 
understand the lawsuit against Milton and what it may indicate for other communities who fail 
to comply.  
 
NMCOG staff presented information about the MBTA Communities Law and three possible 
options to Dracut residents in an in-person and virtual meeting over the month of February. 
Additionally, NMCOG administered a town-wide survey that received more than 130 online and 
paper responses. NMCOG will analyze those results, assist Town staff in presenting the results 
to Dracut’s Zoning Bylaw Review Committee (ZBRC), and guide the ZBRC through selecting a 
final option and compliant dimensional standards. 
 
NMCOG assisted the Billerica Planning Department in hosting their second MBTA Communities 
Multifamily Zoning Open House event at Haijer School on Rodgers Road on February 26, 
attended by more than 80 attendees. The open housing included information on the Section 3A 
MBTA Communities Multi-Family Zoning Law requirements for Billerica, the Town’s current 
proposal and preceding efforts, and provided opportunities for feedback to the Planning 
Department and Planning Board. 
 
Finally, staff assisted Westford in researching the relationship between economic development 
and housing production, and provided technical assistance at a meeting of the MCMAC – the 
Advisory Board that prepared Westford’s zoning amendments – and in advance of Westford’s 
Financial Committee meeting. Additional assistance will be provided throughout March, 
including at Westford’s Annual Town Meeting on 3/23.  
 
NMCOG also hosted a monthly technical support conference call with all seven participating 
MBTA Communities from the NMCOG region on February 13. 

 
• Dunstable Union Building Rehabilitation and Future Use 

On February 8, NMCOG and Spencer Preservation Group presented several reuse options 
for the Dunstable Union Building to more than 30 residents who participated both in-
person and via zoom. Staff led breakout groups to discuss the options and possible 
resources or users of those options to integrate into a report. NMCOG developed a 
summary document of the report and is now working with Town staff on final 
recommendations to present to the Dunstable Union Building Rehabilitation Committee.  
 

• Chelmsford Open Space and Recreation Plan (OSRP) 
NMCOG initiated the process for Chelmsford's OSRP 2024 update. As part of this effort, a 
dedicated OSRP Committee is being established in Chelmsford. Staff are currently reviewing 
intersecting plans and crafting a community engagement strategy, with a particular emphasis 
on reaching Environmental Justice (EJ) communities. Additionally, staff are identifying relevant 
data to integrate into the required maps, ensuring they convey a compelling narrative. 
 

• Dracut Open Space and Recreation Plan (OSRP) 2024 
NMCOG completed the first draft of the Dracut OSRP and presented the draft document to the 



   
 

FEBRUARY 2024 – NMCOG EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR’S REPORT       5  

Conservation Commission on February 7 and the Open Space Committee on February 8; at 
both meetings staff received valuable feedback to incorporate into the final OSRP document. 
The Recreation Commission meeting scheduled for March 4 was cancelled, so NMCOG will 
work with the Recreation Department Director to obtain recreation related feedback. A final 
draft of the plan is expected to be presented to the public in April. 
 

• EV Charging Stations in Dunstable and Pepperell 
Staff released an RFP for the purchase, installation, operation and maintenance of EV Charging 
Stations at three locations: two in Pepperell, one in Dunstable. The $42,000 budget for the 
project is funded by a Commonwealth earmark. The project is under MassEVIP and must 
comply with the Public Access Charging Program (PAC) guidelines. Responses are due May 9, 
2024. 

 
GIS AND DATA SHARING 
NMCOG provided a range of GIS support to member communities in February and continued work 
on ongoing agency projects.  

• Dracut and Tyngsborough staff participated in an online Nearmap MapBrowser training 
organized by NMCOG and several new staff were provided with user accounts. The training 
will enable town staff to make the most of the tools available for viewing and measuring 
from new and historic imagery offered in the Nearmap subscription.   

• NMCOG GIS assisted Tewksbury staff in loading Tewksbury’s local street data into the 
Eagleview CONNECT Explorer aerial image viewer application.  A street grid index map was 
developed for Dunstable public safety staff and their dispatch service.   

• Updates to Dunstable’s open space inventory were also completed and provided to the 
town for review.  

• Tyngsborough staff requested assistance with loading town boundary coordinates into the 
Ways Cities traffic event platform and Tyngsborough Assessor’s neighborhood codes were 
loaded into the town parcel dataset to produce a town-wide map required by the 
Department of Revenue.   

• For Billerica, LRTA routes were loaded into an ArcGIS Pro template to map Billerica bus 
routes and transit stations relative to town open spaces.  GIS parcel updates and building 
permit data collection is expected to be completed in March. 

 
REGIONAL SUPPORT ACTIVITIES 
 
• Community Compact Efficiency & Regionalization Grant  

Following on support from the Northern Middlesex Municipal CEO Group, NMCOG submitted a 
grant application for $115,000 to the Massachusetts Community Compact Efficiency and 
Regionalization Grant Program to establish a Regional Housing Services Organization. The 
funding would enable the agency to help NMCOG municipalities maintain and expand their 
Subsidized Housing Inventories, ensure fair housing compliance, advance Housing Production 
Plans, and similar activities. 
 

  

• Massachusetts Environmental Policy Act (MEPA) Updates 
The two projects described below are within the NMCOG region and are undergoing MEPA 



   
 

FEBRUARY 2024 – NMCOG EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR’S REPORT       6  

review. The table below identifies the projects, including comment deadlines:  
 

TALBOT DAM REMOVAL/CONCORD RIVER RESTORATION 

MEPA/NMCOG NUMBER 
AND TYPE OF DOCUMENT 
FILED 

MEPA:16731/NMCOG: 691 
SEIR 

PROJECT NAME AND 
LOCATION 

Talbot Dam Removal/Concord River Restoration 
Billerica, MA 

APPLICANT NAME AND 
ADDRESS 

CRT Development Realty, LLC. Prepared by Gomez and Sullivan 
80 Washington St, Norwell, MA 02061 

PROJECT DESCRIPTION The project includes the removal of Talbot Mills Dam, an 
approximately 127-foot-long, 10-foot-high former mill dam on the 
Concord River, about 4.76 miles upstream of its confluence with the 
Merrimack River. The project is pursued as the best alternative to 
restore migratory fish passage and connectivity for resident aquatic 
species, decommission aging infrastructure, eliminate ongoing 
maintenance and repair obligations, reduce flood hazards and 
increase resilience, and improve water quality, habitat, and natural 
river functions. The proposed removal has been designated a 
Priority Project by the Massachusetts Division of Ecological 
Restoration. 

PRIORITY RANK A 

COMMENT DEADLINE 
AND STAFF REMARKS 

March 25, 2024 

 

YANKEE DOODLE BIKE PATH 

MEPA/NMCOG NUMBER 
AND TYPE OF DOCUMENT 
FILED 

MEPA: 16781/NMCOG: 694 
EENF 

PROJECT NAME AND 
LOCATION 

The Yankee Doodle Bike Path 
Billerica, MA 

APPLICANT NAME AND 
ADDRESS 

Town of Billerica prepared by VHB 
Town of Billerica 365 Boston Road Billerica, MA 01821 

PROJECT DESCRIPTION The Project consists of the construction of the Yankee Doodle Bike 
Path and includes approximately 4.2 miles of a paved 10-foot-wide, 
multi-use, non-motorized, ADA-accessible path with 3-foot 
shoulders from the Billerica High School to the Bedford Town Line 
part of the regionally significant non-motorized transportation 
connection between the Minuteman Bikeway in Bedford and the 
Bruce Freeman Rail in Lowell. It will be open to pedestrians, joggers, 
bicyclists, rollerbladers, and other non-motorized modes of travel. 

PRIORITY RANK A 

COMMENT DEADLINE 
AND STAFF REMARKS 

March 25, 2024 

 


	NMCOG Council Meeting Agenda 032024_Final.pdf
	NMCOG Council Minutes 02-21-24_Final_Signed
	March 20, 2024_ Warrant
	Revised Draft - 6.30.23 NMCOG Audited FS
	NMCOG - 6.30.23 Audit Presentation
	Northern Middlesex Council of Governments (NMCOG)�June 30, 2023 �Audit
	NMCOG�June 30, 2023�Audit Summary/Required Communications
	NMCOG�June 30, 2023�Required Communications
	NMCOG�June 30, 2023�Required Communications
	NMCOG�June 30, 2023�Required Communications
	NMCOG�June 30, 2023�Required Communications
	NMCOG�June 30, 2023�Financial Review – Statements of Net Position
	�NMCOG�June 30, 2023�Financial Review – Statements of Revenues, Expenses and         Changes in Net Position
	NMCOG�June 30, 2023�Financial Review – Schedule of Indirect Costs

	240320 CEDS Update_Presentation to NMCOG Council
	2024 Greater Lowell Annual CEDS Report
	The CEDS REPORT
	Slide Number 3
	Slide Number 4
	Slide Number 5
	In 2023, the region saw continued recovery and continued challenges�Population Decline and Impact on Employment
	In 2023, the region saw continued recovery and continued challenges�Population Decline and Impact on Employment
	Slide Number 8
	Slide Number 9
	In 2023, the region saw continued recovery and continued challenges�Business Formation Slowing and Firms Declining
	In 2023, the region saw continued recovery and continued challenges�Business Formation Slowing and Firms Declining
	In 2023, the region saw continued recovery and continued challenges�Business Formation Slowing and Firms Declining
	Slide Number 13
	Slide Number 14
	Summary
	CEDS 2024 Schedule of Goals
	2024 Schedule of Goals
	2024 Schedule of Goals
	2024 Schedule of goals
	2024 Schedule of goals
	2024 schedule of goals
	Thanks!

	February 2024_Final Executive Directors Report
	 Massachusetts Environmental Policy Act (MEPA) Updates
	The two projects described below are within the NMCOG region and are undergoing MEPA review. The table below identifies the projects, including comment deadlines:




